FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
6/12/2020 2:48 PM

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 6/15/2020 BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

NO. 98655-0

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

Court of Appeals, Division I No. 79296-2-I

PASSION WORKS, LLC and ERIC ROOTVIK,

Petitioners/Appellants,

v.

STATE OF WASHINGTON DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND INDUSTRIES,

Respondent.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

David A. Weibel
TEMPLETON HORTON WEIBEL
& BROUGHTON, PLLC
3212 NW Byron St.
Suite 101
Silverdale, WA 98383
(369) 629-6445 Phone
(360) 692-1257 Fax
Counsel for Petitioner

III.	INTRODUCTION		
IV.	ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW2		
V.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE2		
VI.	ARGUMENT6		
	A.	Standard of Review5	
	В.	Review Should be Granted Because the Department's Erroneous Interpretation of the Exemptions to the Registration of Contractors Act is an Issue of Substantial Public Interest	
	C.	Review Should be Granted Because the Department Acted in Violation of the Appellants' Due Process and Rights12	
VII.	CON	CLUSION20	

TABLES OF AUTHORITIES

STATE CASES

Arctic Stone, Ltd. V. Dadvar, 127 Wn. App. 789, 796 P.3d 582, 585 (2005)10, 11
Expert Drywall, Inc. v. Brain, 17 Wn. App. 529, 540, 564 P.2d 803 (1977)17
<i>Eyman v. Ferguson,</i> 7 Wn. App.2d 312 433 P.3d 863, 867-68 (2019)7
Foss v. Nat'l Marine Fisheries Serv., 161 F.3d 584, 589 (9 th Circ. 1998)
Harbor Millwork, Inc. v. Achttien, 6 Wn. App. 808, 496 P.2d 978, 981 (1972)9
<i>Hart v. Department of Social & Health Services,</i> 111 Wn.2d 445, 448, P.2d 1206 (1988)7
<i>In re Yim,</i> 139 Wn2d 581, 592, 989 P.2d 512 (1999)17
Johnson v. Washington Dep't of Fish & Wildlife, 175 Wn. App. 765, 305 P.3d 1130 (2013) 18
King v. Rice, 146 Wn. App. 662, 669 P.3d 946 (2008)2
Morrison v. Dep't of Labor & Indus., 168 Wn. App. 269, 277 P.3d 675, review denied 175 Wn. 2d 1012, 287
P.3d 594 (2012) (quoting <i>Downing v. Pierce County</i> , 165 Wn. App. 152, 165, 267 P.3d 445 2011)19

123 Wn.2d 750, 871 P.2d 1050 (1994)18
State v. Dolson, 138 Wn.2d 773, 777, 982 P.2d 100 (1990)
State v. Duncan, 146 Wn.2d 166, P.3d 513 (2002)14, 15
State f. Wright, 84 Wn.2d 645, 650, 529 P.2d 453 (1974)17
Post v. City of Tacoma, 167 Wn.2d 300, 312, 217 P.3d 1179 (2009)14
Waste Management of Seattle, Inc. v. Utilities & Transp. Comm'n 123 Wn.2d 621, 630, 869 P.2d 1034 (1994)17
FEDERAL CASES
Mathews v. Eldridge, 424 U.S. 319, 96 S.Ct. 893, 47 L.Ed.2d 18 (1976)19
STATE STATUTES
RCW 1.12.020
RCW 7.80.05014
RCW 7.80.050(2)15, 16, 17
RCW 7.80.050(3)15
RCW 10.31.10015
RCW 18.27.010(1)(a)
RCW 18.27.0908, 20

RCW 18.27.090(5)1, 2, 6, 7, 9, 11, 20
RCW 18.27.10414, 16, 17
RCW 18.27.104(1)13
RCW 18.27.200(1)(a)12
RCW 18.27.2102, 12, 13, 14, 16, 17, 18
RCW 18.27.104
RCW 18.27.21513
RCW 18.27.23013, 19, 20
RCW 18.27.31012, 14, 18
RULES RAP 13.4(b)
OTHER AUTHORITIES
Black's Law Dictionary, 6 th Ed. P.798

APPENDICES

Passion Works, Inc. et al, Apps/X-Resp v. WA St. Dept of Labor & Industries, Resp/X-App – Order Denying Discretionary Review dated April 13, 2020

Passion Works, Inc. et al, Apps/X-Resp v. WA St. Dept of Labor & Industries, Resp/X-App – Order Denying Motion for Reconsideration dated May 13, 2020

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

The Petitioners are Eric Rootvik and Passion Works, LLC, the business he owns and operates that was the subject of two infractions issued by Department of Labor and Industries that are at issue in this appeal.

II. CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Petitioners seeks review of the Court of Appeals' decision terminating review filed in Division I on May 13, 2020. A copy of Court of Appeals' decision is attached as *Appendix A*.

III. INTRODUCTION

This matter involves a state agency interpretation broad enough regulate a person who places a thumbtack into a wall to hang picture sold to a customer. The challenged interpretation arises out of the Department of Labor and Industries administration of contractor registration laws. Sanctions for violation of the law include imposition of civil and criminal penalties.

The challenged interpretation erroneously subsumes and reads out of the law an exemption that states:

(5) The sale of any finished products, materials, or articles of merchandise that are not fabricated into and do not become a part of a structure under the common law of fixtures;

RCW 18.27.090(5). Under the law of fixtures, hanging an object that is easily removed will never arise to a placement of a finished product that

becomes permanently part of a home, *King v. Rice*, 146 Wn. App. 662, 669, 191 P.3d 946 (2008), and so the sale of a finished product that does not become a fixture should not require contractor registration.

In addition, the Department did not show it conducted a reasonable investigation and make a *prima facie* case before issuing the infractions in violation of Petitioners' due process rights. Under L&I's view, the Department's inspector does not need to verify or observe the advertised work of the alleged installation. An inspector can simply review a website, which says nothing about the installation of the advertised product, and conclude there is a violation.

IV. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Should this court grant review when the Department's interpretation of the exemptions to the Registration of Contractors Act found at RCW 18.27.090(5) because it is an issue of substantial public interest?
- 2. Should this court review the trial courts' decisions when the Department ignores due process requirements found at RCW 18.27.210 and RCW 18.27.104?

V. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This consolidated case¹ requests review of two separate decisions of the Department's administrative law judges upholding infractions assessed under the Contractor Registration Act.

-

¹ The Order Consolidating for Trial is AR 136-139.

The first infraction, NCZIK01831 (Docket 11-2016-LI-00303) is for "advertising, offering to do work, submitting a bid or performing work when not registered as a contractor, as required" is found in the record at AR I 250-252 and also alleges a charge of "advertising, offering to do work, submitting a bid or performing work when not registered as a contractor, as required." The second infraction, INCZIK01856 (Docket 12-2016-LI-00332), which alleges a similar charge is found in the record at (AR II 354-356.).

In the case of the first infraction, the Department's investigator, Ms. Zenker, reviewed Appellants' website, titled "Eric the Closet Guy," which makes no reference to installation or how the shelving systems are hung or placed. AR I 51, Ex. 6. The website contains a photograph of a completed walk-in closet with extensive shelving and drawers, but the picture on the website shows a product, not an activity.

Terri Zenker has no first-hand knowledge how the closet systems in each instance were placed. Ms. Zenker testified, "I'm not going – I can't

-

² For the purposes of this Petition citations to the administrative hearing record will be as follows: OAH Docket no. 11-2016-LI-00303 as "AR I;" OAH Docket no. 12-2016-LI-00332 as "AR II." In each instance there are typed numbers and handwritten numbers at the bottom of each page, and following the Department's prior briefing, citation shall be to the handwritten numbers.

give you a description of how you fabricate your work or how you do your product or you install it." AR I 117-118.

Instead, Ms. Zenker relied upon various reviews on Houzz (AR I, 54, Ex. 7, 117-118), Merchant Circle, (AR I, 61, Ex. 8) and Yelp (AR I, 65, Ex. 9). These third-party reviews say nothing about what or how any work was actually performed, or what specific type of shelving system was purchased and placed, and nothing about the technical aspects of the placement.

The Department also points to a Craigslist posting that "emphasized his abilities to create custom closet systems, highlighting the durability of the installations." However, the Craigslist posting says nothing about the manner of the "installations." AR I, 68, Ex. 10.

Ms. Zenker's determination that registration was required was based solely on the website and reviews from customers indicating the product was somehow "installed." AR I 84. In each of the above instances, any reference to "install" or "installation" is clearly colloquial, and does not provide a technical explanation as to how the shelving systems were placed.

In the matter of the second infraction, the Department relies again the Craigslist ad (AR II 89, 359-364 Ex 4), and the testimony of Ursula Haigh and related exhibits.

Ms. Haigh testified that Mr. Rootvik told her he could install the shelving system. AR II 102. By this, she understood him to mean "he was going to build them and then place them in the house, install them." AR II 102. She presumed they would be "affixed to the structure." AR II 105.

The Department submitted an email exchange between the parties that makes reference product choices and dimensions but says nothing about "installation." AR II 107, 365-371, Ex. 5.

The Department points to the invoice sent from Mr. Rootvik to Ms. Haigh as support for its position. But the invoice also says nothing about installation. AR II 110, 372-375, Ex. 6.

In a subsequent email exchange between the parties, reference is made to an "install date" but nothing more specific. AR II 82, 389-397, Ex. 8. But because of a falling out between the parties, no further work was done and no further work, let alone installation work, occurred.

This Petition does not overlook that at each administrative hearing, Mr. Rootvik testified about his shelving systems, but in each case the testimony was not specific to any ad, bid, communication, offer to do work or work performed or with respect to any client or customer and, therefore, does not support the Department's claims. AR I 132-134, AR II 212-215.

VI. ARGUMENT

A. Standard of Review

Under RAP 13.4(b), a petition for review will be granted by the Supreme Court:

- (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or
- (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals; or
- (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or
- (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

In this matter, review should be granted as the matter involves a substantial public interest and a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington.

B. Review Should be Granted Because the Department's Erroneous Interpretation of the Exemptions to the Registration of Contractors Act is an Issue of Substantial Public Interest.

In deciding whether a case presents matters of continuing and substantial public interest, three factors are particularly determinative:

- (1) whether the issue is of a public or private nature;
- (2) whether an authoritative determination is desirable to provide future guidance to public officers; and
- (3) whether the issue is likely to recur.
- A fourth factor may also play a role: "the level of genuine adverseness and the quality of advocacy of the issues." Lastly, the court may consider the "likelihood that the issue will escape review because the facts of the controversy are short-lived."

Satomi Owners Ass'n v. Satomi, LLC, 167 Wn.2d 781, 796, 225 P.3d 213 (2009) (quoting In re Marriage of Horner, 151 Wn.2d 884, 892, 93 P.3d 124 (2004)). In Hart v. Department of Social & Health Services, 111 Wash.2d 445, 448, 759 P.2d 1206 (1988), the Supreme Court stated that all criteria to be considered are "essential" in deciding whether to review a moot case. Eyman v. Ferguson, 433 P.3d 863, 867–68 (Wash. Ct. App. 2019).

Here, all factors are met: the issue is public in nature and involves a state agency enforcing the contractor registration statute and related rules against fabricators of finished products, which in light of the 2007 amendments, requires an authoritative determination of the exemptions found at RCW 18.27.090 to provide future guidance to public officers, as this issue is likely to occur, and in the case of Mr. Rootvik has reoccurred. The only discussion to date is found in the unpublished decision, *Eric Rootvik v Department of Labor and Industries*, No. 73828-3-I. See Appendix B. Under the constraints of an interlocutory appeal, the court did not explicitly address whether the work must include the sale and delivery of a finished product and creation of fixture. Here, it must and no fixture was created.

Under RCW 18.27.010(1)(a) a contractor is defined as a person who "offers," with respect to an "improvement attached to real estate" to do work, including "cabinet or similar installation."

"Install" is defined to mean to "set up or fix in position for use or service," BLACK'S LAW DICTIONARY, 6th Ed. p. 798. According to the Department, doing work that is the equivalent of selling a picture to a customer and then hanging it with a thumb tack, or wall putty, or 3M strips for that matter, would fall under the meaning of this term and in each instance require contractor registration.

However, the definition of a "contractor" contemplates more significant activity beyond these simple acts and includes the terms "construct, alter, repair, add to, subtract from, improve, develop, move, wreck, or demolish any building... or other structure,... attached to real estate ... including ... cabinet or similar installation...." RCW 18.27.010(1)(a).

It is Appellants' position that the legislature did not intend such a broad reading, and the intent of a more limited reading can be found in the language in the exemptions listed under RCW 18.27.090.

The challenged interpretation of the Department erroneously subsumes and reads out of the law an exemption that states:

(5) The *sale* of any *finished products*, materials, or articles of merchandise that *are not fabricated into and do not become a part of a structure under the common law of fixtures*;

RCW 18.27.090(5). (Emphasis supplied).

In *Harbor Millwork, Inc. v. Achttien*, 6 Wn. App. 808, 813-814, 496 P.2d 978, 981 (1972), the court considered an earlier version of this exemption found RCW 18.27.090(5), which previously read: "The sale or *installation* of any finished products, materials or articles of merchandise which are not actually 'fabricated into' and do not become a permanent fixed part of a structure; . . ." (emphasis added). The court also observed the words "installation" and "fabricated" have different meanings, and "installation" requires a certain amount of "fabrication" and to "fabricate into" means something other than "mere attachment:"

It is clear that 'fabricate into' means something other than mere attachment. The supplier who actually *installs* finished products is required to perform a certain amount of *fabrication* to make the product operational or functional. Nevertheless, he is exempt from registration as a contractor unless the finished product is actually 'fabricated into' and becomes a 'permanent fixed part of a structure.' There is no easy formula by which it can be determined that something has or has not become 'fabricated into' and a 'permanent fixed part of a structure.' Accordingly, each case must be decided on its own facts.

Id. (emphasis added).

The Department makes no distinction between these terms, however. Terri Zenker testified, "We're talking -- installation and

fabrication is the same terminology to me. *It's putting the product in the structure*, offering to do that, advertising." AR I 116-117. (emphasis added). Under the Department's reading simply putting a finished product into a structure constitutes conduct that requires registration. Under this view, if a furniture manufacture delivers a custom sofa to one's home, it must be a registered contractor.

Registration should only be required when something more than mere attachment to a residence occurs, which is why RCW 18.27.090(5) includes the clause that the conduct is exempt if the finished product is "not fabricated into and do not become a part of a structure under the common law of fixtures." As noted in Arctic Stone, Ltd. v. Dadvar, 127 Wn. App. 789, 796, 112 P.3d 582, 585 (2005), "There is no easy formula for determining whether something has or has not become 'fabricated into' and a 'permanent fixed part of a structure.' Factors include whether removal of the material would prevent its reuse or cause substantial damage to the structure, whether the material is more of a decoration than an improvement, and the parties' intent. Materials and products that courts have found were not 'fabricated into' and made permanent parts of structures include cold storage machinery that only needed to be bolted to the structure and plugged in, synthetic turf gym flooring that could be removed without damaging the underlying concrete, readily removable carpet, and window and door shutter frames." *Arctic Stone, Ltd. v. Dadvar*, 127 Wn. App. 789, 796, 112 P.3d 582, 585 (2005) (citations omitted). It is worth noting that, among other findings, the *Arctic Stone* court noted that the invoice for services included the term "installation," unlike here. *Arctic Stone, Ltd. v. Dadvar*, 127 Wn. App. at 799.

In summary, we are told the term "installation" requires a certain amount of "fabrication." That "fabricated into" means something more than "mere attachment." Whether something is "fabricated into" depends on the parties' intent and whether the product can be reused without causing substantial damage to the structure. Contrary to the Department's argument, the 2007 amendment to RCW 18.27.090(5) did nothing to change this analysis.

The Department's reading, "It's putting the product in the structure," effectively eliminates this exemption and the possibility a finished product can be sold and delivered to a home without being fabricated into a residence.

As recognized by the Department, Mr. Rootvik performed all work himself, fabricating the system's components at an off-site location. The only on-site activity consists of merely hanging the shelving on a removeable rail, and the system is intended and designed so the shelving can easily be move from room to room, or from house to house by the owner, without causing any damage to the structure. AR I 132-134, AR II 212-215. Appellants' activities of placing a shelving system is at most a mere attachment to the structure and in no way amounts to "fabrication," "fabrication into," nor "installation."

C. Review Should be Granted Because the Department Acted in Violation of the Appellants' Due Process and Rights.

Petitioners submit it was error for the two ALJs assigned to the Passion Works appeals to hold that RCW 18.27.310 absolved the Department from making a *prima facie* case as required by the Registration of Contractors Act.

The Department contends Mr. Rootvik violated 18.27.200(1)(a), which provides:

- (1) It is a violation of this chapter and an infraction for any contractor to:
- (a) Advertise, offer to do work, submit a bid, or perform any work as a contractor without being registered as required by this chapter...

Before issuing a Notice of Infraction, the Department is required to conduct an investigation. The investigation requirements are contained within RCW 18.27.210, which provides that:

- (1) The director shall appoint compliance inspectors to investigate alleged or apparent violations of this chapter.
- (a) The ... authorized compliance inspector ... may inspect and investigate job sites at which a contractor had bid OR presently is working to determine whether the contractor is

registered in accordance with this chapter or the rules adopted under this chapter or whether there is a violation of this chapter.

(b) Upon request of the compliance inspector of the department, a contractor or an employee of the contractor shall provide information identifying the contractor...

If the Department reasonably believes an infraction occurred, it can issue a "Notice of Infraction" under RCW 18.27.230 ("Notice of Infraction – Service"), which provides that: "The department may issue a notice of infraction if the department *reasonably believes* that the contractor has committed an infraction under this chapter...." (emphasis added).

RCW 18.27.210 requires the Department to investigate and find evidence of a violation. Reasonable cause must exist. RCW 18.27.215. In addition, RCW 18.27.104(1), titled "Unlawful advertising – Citations", provides:

If, upon investigation, the director or the director's designee has *probable cause* to believe that a person...acting in the capacity of a contractor who is not otherwise exempted from this chapter, has violated RCW 18.27.100 by unlawfully advertising for work covered by this chapter, the department may issue a citation containing an order of correction. Such order shall require the violator to cease the unlawful advertising.

Id. (emphasis added).

Chapter 18.27 RCW contemplates that a reasonable investigation will take place, as RCW 18.27.210 gives considerable authority to the Director and compliance inspectors to investigate suspected violations.

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