FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
8/11/2020 3:12 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

NO. 98655-0

### SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

PASSION WORKS, LLC and ERIC ROOTVIK,

Petitioners,

v.

DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND INDUSTRIES,

Respondent.

### DEPARTMENT OF LABOR & INDUSTRIES ANSWER TO MOTION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

Paul Weideman Assistant Attorney General WSBA No. 42254 Office Id. No. 91018 800 Fifth Avenue, Suite 2000 Seattle, WA 98104 (206) 389-3820

# **

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

### IV. ARGUMENT

The Court of Appeals correctly applied the plain language of RCW 18.27.010(1)(a) and WAC 296-200A-016(7) to Passion Works' custom closet installations to affirm the two infractions. This Court should decline to review the Court of Appeals' decision under RAP 13.5 because it did not commit obvious or probable error, or depart from the usual course of judicial proceedings.<sup>2</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> RAP 13.5 applies here, not RAP 13.4, as Passion Works asserts. Pet. 6. RAP 13.5 applies because in a contractor registration case, the superior court's review is subject to review at the Court of Appeals only under RAP 2.3 standards. RCW 18.27.310(4). Here, the Court of Appeals denied review, which is an interlocutory

The Legislature requires all contractors who add to or improve a building, including by performing cabinet or similar installations, to register with the Department before they can advertise their business or offer to perform such work. RCW 18.27.010(1), .200(1)(a). Passion Works' closet installations meet these criteria—the company installs elaborate closet systems, which it customizes by adding shelves, drawers, and doors. These installations also meet the criteria of the closet specialty in WAC 296-200A-016(7) because they involve the installation of lateral or horizontal shelving systems, racks, rails, or drawers. Because Passion Works declined to register as a contractor before advertising this work and offering to install an \$8,400 closet system, it violated the contractor registration laws, as the Court of Appeals recognized. There is no error.

A. The Court of Appeals Did Not Commit Probable or Obvious Error or Depart From the Usual Course of Judicial Proceedings When It Required Passion Works To Register as a Contractor

This Court accepts discretionary review under RAP 13.5 when the Court of Appeals:

(1) has committed an obvious error which would render further proceedings useless; or

decision. *See* RAP 12.3. So review is under RAP 13.5, and the Court should disregard Passion Works' analysis under the incorrect standard. Pet. 6-7.

7

- (2) has committed probable error and the decision of the Court of Appeals substantially alters the status quo or substantially limits the freedom of a party to act; or
- (3) has so far departed from the accepted and usual course of judicial proceedings, or so far sanctioned such a departure by a trial court or administrative agency, as to call for the exercise of revisory jurisdiction by the Supreme Court.

RAP 13.5(b). Passion Works cannot establish any of these criteria.

# 1. The Contractor Registration Act covers "installation" of a closet system

Contractors violate the Act when they advertise, offer to do work, submit a bid, or perform "any work as a contractor" without registering with the Department. RCW 18.27.200(1)(a). The Department must issue a notice of infraction and a minimum penalty of \$1,000 to unregistered contractors. RCW 18.27.340(3); WAC 296-200A-300(3)(a).

The Legislature defines "contractor" broadly. Contractors like
Passion Works who "add to" or "improve" a building, including by
performing "cabinet or similar installation," must register:

"Contractor" includes any person, firm, corporation, or other entity who or which, in the pursuit of an independent business undertakes to, or *offers to undertake*, or submits a bid to, construct, alter, repair, *add to*, subtract from, *improve*, develop, move, wreck, or demolish *any building*, . . . or to do any part thereof including . . . *cabinet or similar installation* . . . .

RCW 18.27.010(1) (emphases added); RCW 18.27.010(5), (12), .020(1), .200(1)(a).

Specialty contractors who work in the closet specialty, as defined by WAC 296-200A-016(7), must also register. RCW 18.27.010(12), .200(1)(a). This specialty includes contractors who install, repair, and maintain shelving systems:

What are the definitions of the specialty contractor classifications for the purpose of contractor registration only?

. . . .

(7) "Closets"—A contractor in this specialty installs, repairs and maintains the lateral or horizontal shelving systems, racks, rails, or drawers involved in a closet or storage system.

WAC 296-200A-016(7).

Three independent reasons required Passion Works to register before advertising closet installation services and offering to install closets for Haigh. By not registering, it violated the contractor registration laws.

First, Passion Works' closet installations "add to" and "improve" a customer's home under these terms' plain meaning in RCW 18.27.010(1), so registration is necessary. *See* RCW 18.27.200(1)(a) (an unregistered contractor may not advertise or offer to perform any work as a contractor). "Add" means "to join, annex, or unite (as one thing to another) so as to bring about an increase (as in number, size, or importance) . . . ."

Webster's Third New Int'l Dictionary 24 (2002) (also defining "addition" as "a part added to or joined with a building to increase available space."). "Improve" means "to enhance in value or quality: make more profitable, excellent, or desirable . . . ." Id. at 1138. Rootvik admitted that he secures metal rails to wall studs, installs fitted shelves, and customizes his closet systems with drawers and cabinet doors. AR I 132-34; AR II 211-18, 375. This work adds to a customer's home by joining closets to the customer's wall that increase useable storage space. This meets the ordinary definition of "add" and "addition." The closet systems also improve the customer's home by enhancing the quality of the closet storage space, making it more desirable. This meets the ordinary definition of "improve."

Second, Passion Works' custom closet installations require registration under the "cabinet or similar installation" portion of the "contractor" definition. RCW 18.27.010(1). A "cabinet" is "a box for storing chiefly small articles usu[ally] closed by a hinged or sliding door, fitted with shelves or drawers, and suitably finished as an item of home, office, or laboratory furniture." *Webster's* at 309. An "installation" is as "something that is installed for use," and "install" is defined as "to set up for use or service." *Id.* at 1171. Rootvik sets up the closet systems for use in his customers' homes and furnishes them with shelves and drawers. AR I 132-34. He advertised that he was "not just a sales clerk dabbling in

cabinetry" (AR I 272), and he emphasized cabinetry engineering, implying to potential customers that he was skilled in this area. AR I 272.

Third, he falls under the closet specialty under WAC 296-200A-016(7) because, by his own admission, and by his customers' description of his work, he installs "lateral or horizontal shelving systems, racks, rails, or drawers" in a closet system. AR I 178, 261, 266, 268; AR II 100-01, 105, 212, 214-15. So he must register for this reason too.

The Court of Appeals observed that Rootvik admitted that he installs customs closets and cabinetry. *Passion Works, LLC*, 2020 WL 1853228, at \*3; AR I 132-34; AR II 211-18, 375. Therefore, his varied attempts to cast doubt on whether he installs the closets—such as by asserting that his website does not describe how he hangs or places the shelving systems or that his customers' use of "install" or "installation" is "clearly colloquial"—lacks merit. Pet. 2-5.

Contrary to Passion Works' hypotheticals, pushing in a thumbtack, attaching wall putty, affixing "3M strips," or delivering a sofa is unlikely to qualify as contractor work. Pet. 1, 8, 10. None of these activities is like installing an \$8,400 closet system equipped with drawers, shelves, and cabinetry. They do not "add to" or "improve" a customer's home, or result in a "cabinet or similar installation." *See* RCW 18.27.010(1). Nor are they

set out as a specific contractor specialty requiring registration, distinguishing them from closet installation. *See* WAC 296-200A-016(7).

2. Rootvik is not exempt from registration under RCW 18.27.090(5) because that exemption applies only to the sale, not the installation, of finished products

Passion Works is not exempt from registration under RCW 18.27.090(5). By its plain terms, this exemption is limited to "the sale" of certain finished products, materials, or articles of merchandise. RCW 18.27.090(5). But Passion Works does not merely sell closet shelving to homeowners so that they (or others) can install them. The company installs the closet systems. RCW 18.27.090(5) does not apply.

Applying RCW 18.27.090(5)'s plain language, as the Court of Appeals did, gives meaning to the exemption. The exemption can be read harmoniously with the Legislature's requirement that a contractor must register if it adds to or improves a building, including by installing a cabinet or similar installation. Adding to or improving buildings is different than selling finished products. If the exemption did not exist, the sale of finished products could conceivably be considered improvements that required registration. By adopting the exemption, the Legislature made clear that just selling products does not require registration. This harmonious reading does not "subsume[]" the exemption or read it "out of the law," as Passion Works contends. Pet. 1, 8. Nor does RCW

18.27.090(5)'s exemption support a "more limited reading" of the definition of "contractor" in RCW 18.27.010(1). Pet. 8. The exemption stands on its own. The Court of Appeals succinctly harmonized the rule and the exemption by observing that Rootvik "did not sell finish products; he installed them." *Passion Works, LLC*, 2020 WL 1853228, at \*4.

The Legislature's 2007 amendment to RCW 18.27.090(5) shows a clear intent to require contractors who install finished products to register as contractors. Former RCW 18.27.090(5) (2003) exempted both the sale and installation of certain finished products from registration. But in 2007, the Legislature removed the phrase "or installation" from RCW 18.27.090(5). Laws of 2007, ch. 436, § 6. That amendment signaled the Legislature's clear intent to exempt only the sale— not the installation—of certain finished products, materials, and articles.

# 3. The Legislature does not limit contractor registration to contractors who install fixtures

Passion Works ignores the broad language of RCW 18.27.010(1) and the closet specialty in WAC 296-200A-016(7)—a directly applicable regulation that it does not even cite—and proposes instead that registration "should only be required when something more than mere attachment to a residence occurs . . . ." Pet. 10. But that ignores the language that the Legislature uses in the definition of "contractor." RCW

18.27.010(1). The Legislature does not require, as Passion Works would like, that closet installations result in "fixtures" before a contractor must register. Pet. 8-11. So it is irrelevant that "no fixture" was created. Pet. 7.

Passion Works is wrong to rely on RCW 18.27.090(5)'s final clause—"that are not fabricated into and do not become a part of a structure under the common law of fixtures"—to assert that a contractor should only have to register "when something more than mere attachment to a residence occurs." Pet. 10. The Legislature did not include language about fixtures in the definition of "contractor." By using different language in the two statutes, the Legislature intended that the language about "fixtures" applies only when applying the exemption and not when determining whether a person or company is acting as a "contractor." See Guillen v. Contreras, 169 Wn.2d 769, 776-77, 238 P.3d 1168 (2010) (different language in two statutes shows different legislative intent.). In essence, Rootvik asks this Court to read language about fixtures into RCW 18.27.010(1) that is not there. Courts do not add words to an unambiguous statute when the Legislature has chosen not to include that language. State v. Delgado, 148 Wn.2d 723, 727, 63 P.3d 792 (2003). The Legislature did not limit the definition of "contractor" to those who install fixtures.<sup>3</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Passion Works makes several arguments stemming from its premise that only work involving the placement of fixtures requires a contractor registration. It asserts that Eric the Closet Guy's website and Craigslist ad say "nothing about the manner of the

Passion Works is thus wrong that the sales exemption limits the definition of "contractor." Neither scaffolding erection nor tree removal creates a fixture but the Legislature included these activities in the definition of "contractor" to protect consumers if something goes wrong. *See* RCW 18.27.010(1). Nothing in the definition of "contractor" limits contracting work to placing fixtures.

Passion Works' interpretation would undermine the Act's core purpose to protect consumers from unreliable, incompetent, fraudulent, or financially irresponsible contractors. RCW 18.27.140. Contractors who do not install fixtures, like other contractors, may fail to complete the work, may install an addition or improvement incorrectly, or may fail to pay their suppliers. This very case involved a contractual dispute between Rootvik and a customer. AR II 116-17. The Legislature determined that a bond and insurance are necessary to protect the consumer in such situations, whether the contractor's work results in a fixture or not.

# B. The Department Conducted a Reasonable Investigation to Determine Whether Passion Works Had Violated the Law

-

<sup>&#</sup>x27;installations'" (Pet. 4); that Zenker does not know how the closet systems were installed (Pet. 3-4); that third party reviews do not describe the specific type of "shelving system" that was purchased and placed or describe the "technical aspects of the placement" (Pet. 4), and that emails with Haigh made no reference to installation (Pet. 5). Because these arguments all flow from the same flawed premise that the closets must be fixtures, none has merit. For the same reason, Passion Works' reliance on cases discussing fixtures are not relevant. Pet. 2 (citing *King v. Rice*, 146 Wn. App. 662, 669, 191 P.3d 946 (2008)); Pet. 10 (citing *Arctic Stone Ltd. v. Dadvar*, 127 Wn. App. 789, 796, 122 P.3d 582 (2005)).

For the first time on appeal, Passion Works alleges that the Department violated procedural due process when it failed to conduct a "reasonable investigation" before issuing the infractions. Pet. 20.<sup>4</sup> The Court should decline to consider this new claim under RAP 2.5(a)(3).

A party can raise a new issue for the first time on appeal by establishing a manifest error affecting a constitutional right. RAP 2.5(a)(3); *State v. Kirkman*, 159 Wn.2d 918, 926-27, 155 P.3d 125 (2007). Due process is flexible and calls for such procedural protections as the particular situation demands. *Mathews v. Eldridge*, 424 U.S. 319, 334, 96 S. Ct. 893, 47 L. Ed. 2d 18 (1976). Determining what process is due in a given situation requires consideration of (1) the private interest involved, (2) the risk that the current procedures will erroneously deprive a party of that interest, and (3) the governmental interest involved. *Mathews*, 424 U.S. at 334-35.

Passion Works couches the failure to investigate as a due process violation. But it simply ignores that it had a robust procedural safeguard to avoid the erroneous deprivation of its property interest (a penalty). It received two evidentiary hearings before OAH at which it presented

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Below, Passion Works raised a due process claim regarding another issue, but it did not specifically argue that failure to conduct a reasonable investigation violated procedural due process or apply the *Mathews* factors to support such a claim. *See* AB 22-27, 42-43.

witnesses, submitted documentation, and cross-examined the

Department's witnesses to contest the infractions. It had a full
opportunity before two neutral factfinders to show that the Department's
infractions lacked merit. Passion Works received due process to
challenge the Department's actions.

Passion Works' belated due process claim fails even on its own terms. Passion Works argues that, under RCW 18.27.104(1), RCW 18.27.210, and RCW 18.27.230, the Department has an "initial evidentiary burden" to make a "prima facie case" after conducting a "reasonable investigation" before it can issue an infraction. Pet. 13, 14.5 It faults the Department for not investigating whether "shelving was actually 'installed,' or if 'installation services' were advertised." Pet. 14. It asserts that "due process requires more than simply viewing a website, and should require a reasonable investigation to determine how the finished product was placed in the structure and whether it was merely affixed to the premises or installed, or fabricated into the premises before an infraction is issued." Pet. 16.

These arguments fail for two reasons. First, none of the three statutes that Passion Works cites places a "prima facie" burden on the

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